2001

# Pacer Sport and Cycle v. Frank Myers and Carl W. Myers : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action on an Installment Sale and Security Agreement (motor vehicle) for the purchase of a motorcycle.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Third District Court, M. D. Jones, Judge Pro Tem, denied defendant, Carl W. Myers' motion to set aside default judgment against him, which motion was brought pursuant to the provisions of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant, Carl W. Myers, seeks justice and equity

by a reversal of the order of the Lower Court denying his motion to set aside the default judgment against him, and an opportunity to have all of the issues presented to the Court in conformity with law and justice.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, is the father of the other named defendant, Frank Myers. Prior to April 3, 1972, Frank Myers, the son of appellant, entered into an agreement with Robert Reeves, an officer of Pacer Sport & Cycle, Inc., respondent-plaintiff, to race the Maico brand of motorcycle marketed and sold by respondent-plaintiff. Under this arrangement, defendant, Frank Myers, was to race the motorcycle under the name of Pacer Sport & Cycle, Inc.; Pacer Cycle was to furnish Frank Myers, a new Maico motorcycle for which he was to sign a security agreement. No payments were contemplated to be made in that Pacer Cycle was to retake possession of the motorcycle every ninety (90) days and resell the same and replace it with a new motorcycle; and Pacer Cycle was to pay all costs of repairs to the motorcycle during the time that Frank Myers was racing the same under the name of plaintiff.

Appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, was made aware of this agreement and was present at the time the agreement was entered into between defendant, Frank Myers, and plaintiff, Pacer Cycle. At the time Frank Myers signed the Installment Sale and Security Agreement, appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, was requested

to co-sign the agreement with his son as additional security for the return of the motorcycle placed in the possession of defendant, Frank Myers. Appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, signed the Installment Sale and Security Agreement, which is the basis of the default judgment against him, in reliance upon the representation of Robert Reeves, the officer of Pacer Cycle, that no payments were expected to be made under the arrangement with his son, Frank Myers, as stated.

The Installment Sale and Security Agreement was signed by appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, on or about April 3, 1972, and possession of the motorcycle described therein was given to defendant, Frank Myers. Frank Myers did in fact race the motorcycle under the name of Pacer Sport & Cycle pursuant to agreement. In the latter part of April, 1972, the motorcycle failed and needed repair. Defendant, Frank Myers, returned the cycle to plaintiff, Pacer Cycle, for repair under the agreement, at which time Pacer Cycle refused to repair the cycle as agreed. Defendant, Frank Myers, thereafter terminated his relationship with Pacer Cycle by reason of their refusal to repair the cycle as agreed and at that time considered his arrangement with Pacer Cycle to be terminated.

The date on the Installment Sale and Security Agreement, a copy of which was attached to plaintiff's complaint as an Exhibit (R. 49), was changed and the contract was then sold or assigned to Zions First National Bank by endorsement on the reverse side thereof.

The motorcycle was subsequently repossessed by Zions First National Bank on or about January 3, 1973, as shown by the affidavit attached to plaintiff's complaint (R. 50). Plaintiff, Pacer Cycle, commenced a suit on July 11, 1973. Summons was served on appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, only, on July 11, 1973, but the return of summons was not filed with the Court until July 1, 1974, approximately one (1) year later, the same day default judgment was taken against appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, July 1, 1974.

Appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, filed his motion to set aside the default judgment entered against him on July 31, 1974, well within the three (3) month requirement of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. The motion was argued to the Court on August 12, 1974, with Salt Lake City Judge, M. D. Jones, sitting as Judge Pro Tem. The motion of appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, was denied on or about August 19, 1974, although the order on record appears to have been signed on August 10, 1974, (R. 29), two days before the motion was actually heard. The defendant, Frank Myers, was never served with summons in this action. He entered the action voluntarily by filing an answer and counterclaim to the complaint of plaintiff-respondent, and no trial or hearing has been held in connection therewith.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

#### DENIAL OF APPELLANT-DEFENDANTS'

MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT JUDGMENT WAS CONTRARY TO LAW, JUSTICE AND EQUITY.

The provisions of Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure provides as follows:

*“On motion and upon such terms as are just, the Court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party \* \* \* from a final judgment, order or proceeding for the following reasons (1) mistake, inadvertance, surprise, or excusable neglect; \* \* \* (7) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment. The motion shall be made within a reasonable time and for reasons (1) (2) (3) or (4), not more than 3 months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken.”* (Emphasis added.)

Under the provisions of the above cited Rule, the trial Court has considerable latitude of discretion in granting or denying motions to set aside default judgments, *but it cannot act arbitrarily and should be generally indulgent toward permitting full inquiry and knowledge of disputes so that they can be settled advisedly and in conformity with law and justice. It is ordinarily an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification or excuse for defendant's failure to appear and timely application is made to set aside the default judgment.* (*Mayhew vs. Standard Gilsonite Company*, 14 U. 2d 52, 376 P. 2d 951.) (Emphasis added.) There is no dispute that the

motion of appellant-defendant was timely made after default notice was received by him. It is the contention of appellant-defendant that the Lower Court abused its discretion and acted arbitrarily in that there was reasonable justification for setting aside the default judgment against appellant-defendant under the facts and circumstances that existed.

The affidavit of plaintiff's attorney, admits in part that there existed a valid dispute on the question of liability between plaintiff and appellant-defendant. Counsel for plaintiff states in his affidavit:

“However, there was some mention during the course of this conversation that Pacer was to service and repair the motorcycle in exchange for Frank C. Myers racing the motorcycle under the Pacer name” (R. 35).

It is undisputed that appellant-defendant denied liability under the contract from the time a demand letter was allegedly sent to him by plaintiff's counsel (R. 34). The facts and circumstances clearly indicate that the appellant-defendant was misled or lulled into thinking that ~~he~~ <sup>he</sup> ~~was~~ <sup>was</sup> not liable under the contract and that ~~he~~ <sup>he</sup> had convinced plaintiff's attorney accordingly. This is evidenced by the fact that plaintiff's attorney delayed in taking a default judgment against appellant-defendant for approximately one (1) year after the service of summons upon appellant-defendant and after he had held telephone conversations both prior

to suit and shortly after service of summons upon appellant-defendant (R. 34-36).

In addition to the above situation, other circumstances existed which would constitute reasonable justification for setting aside the default judgment in that repossession of the motorcycle which occurred on or about January 3, 1973, approximately six (6) months before the action was commenced; There has been no sale or disposition of the motorcycle repossessed and retaken by Zions First National Bank; There is no indication on the Installment Sale and Security Agreement that the same was reassigned or repurchased by plaintiff giving rise to the question as to whether or not Pacer Sport & Cycle, Inc., was the real party and interest in this action; and the apparent alteration of the date of the contract. Plaintiff's complaint (R. 47-48) is silent as to the sale and assignment of the Installment Sale and Security Agreement to Zions First National Bank, the repossession of the motorcycle, the disposition of the motorcycle, if any, and the purchase back or reassignment of the Installment Sale and Security Agreement from Zions First National Bank to plaintiff, Pacer Cycle (R. 47-48).

In the case of *Warren vs. Dixon Ranch Company, et al.*, (123 U. 416, 260 P. 2d 741), this Court stated:

*"On motion to vacate a default judgment, discretion must be exercised in furtherance of justice and the Court will incline toward granting relief in a doubtful case so that party may have a hearing."* (Emphasis added.)

Looking at the facts presented in a light most favorable to appellant-defendant and assuming from the affidavit (R. 37-38) that he was induced into signing the Installment Security Agreement on the representations allegedly made by Robert Reeves, as set forth in the statement of facts herein, coupled with the repossession of the motorcycle without any sale or disposition thereof, certainly qualifies this case as one that should be given full hearing in the furtherance of justice and equity. Adding to these facts, the honest belief of appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, that he had no liability under the Installment Agreement and that the agreement was a nullity, the long delay before default judgment was taken against him, which added to his belief that he was not liable under the contract, would constitute reasonable justification or excuse for his failure to appear. (See *Ney vs. Harrison*, 5 U. 2d 217, 299 P. 2d 114; *Chrysler vs. Chrysler*, 5 U. 2d 415, 303 P. 2d 995; *Central Finance Company vs. Kynaston*, 22 U. 2d 284, 452 P. d 316.)

It is the contention of appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, that this case is patently one that Rule 60(b) contemplated and the Lower Court abused its discretion in failing to grant his motion to set aside the default judgment against him in that there existed reasonable justification for doing so. The ends of justice and equity require that the order denying defendant's motion to set aside the default judgment be reversed and a trial of the issues be held.

## POINT II.

## THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT-DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT JUDGMENT IN THAT RESPONDENT-PLAINTIFF FAILED TO COMPLY WITH LAW.

The respondent-plaintiff, through its agent, Zions First National Bank, repossessed from defendant, Frank Myers, the motorcycle purportedly sold under the Installment Sale and Security Agreement, which is the subject of this action, on or about January 3, 1973 (R. 50). Suit was commenced approximately six (6) months later after repossession and the record is void of what, if any, disposition was made of the motorcycle in accordance with the provisions of Title 70A-9-501 et seq. of the Utah Code Annotated 1953 as amended. Title 70A-9-503 of the Utah Code grants to the secured party the right to take possession of collateral upon default of the debtor. Title 70A-9-504 grants to the secured party after default the right to sale, lease, or otherwise dispose of any of the collateral and directs how the proceeds of any such disposition shall be applied. Title 70A-9-504(1) (b) requires the secured party to apply proceeds of the disposition of collateral to satisfaction of the indebtedness secured by the security interest under which any disposition is made. Under the provisions of 70A-9-504(3) the secured party is required to give notice to the debtor of any public or private sale in connection with the disposition of collateral. The provisions are as follows:

“(3) *Disposition of the collateral may be by public or private proceeding and may be made by way of one or more contracts \* \* \**

Unless collateral is perishable or threatens to decline speedily in value or is of a type customarily sold on a recognized market, *reasonable notification of the time and place of any public sale or reasonable notification of the time after which any private sale or other intended disposition is to be made shall be sent by the secured party to the debtor. \* \* \**” (Emphasis added.)

70A-9-505(2) provides:

“(2) In any other case involving consumer goods or any other collateral, *a secured party in possession may, after default, propose to retain the collateral in satisfaction of the obligation. Written notice of such proposal shall be sent to the debtor \* \* \*. If the debtor or other person entitled to receive notification objects in writing within thirty (30) days from the receipt of the notification or if any other secured party objects in writing within thirty (30) days after the secured party obtains possession, the secured party must dispose of the collateral under Section 70A-9-504. In the absence of such written objection the secured party may retain the collateral and satisfaction of the debtor’s obligation.*” (Emphasis added.)

The facts and record clearly show that the respondent-plaintiff, Pacer Cycle, has totally failed to comply with the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code in re-taking possession of the motorcycle and the disposition made thereof, if any. If in fact the respondent-plaintiff

has disposed of the collateral it repossessed, it has failed to give the notice required to be given under the provisions of 70A-9-504(3) and should be precluded from having a deficiency judgment against defendants. (*Atlas Thrift Co. vs. Horan* (Cal.), 104 Cal. Rptr. 315; ..... Cal. App. 3rd .....)

Where, as in this case, the secured party fails to comply with the above cited provisions in the retaking and disposition of collateral under a security agreement, the debtor is granted a remedy under the provisions of 70A-9-507(1), which provides as follows:

“If it is established that the secured party is not proceeding in accordance with the provisions of this part, disposition may be ordered or restrained on appropriate terms and conditions. If the disposition has occurred the debtor \* \* \* has a right to recover from the secured party any loss caused by a failure to comply with the provisions of this part. *If the collateral is consumer goods, the debtor has a right to recover in any event, an amount not less than the credit service charge plus ten percent of the principal amount of the debt or the time price differential plus ten percent of the cash price.*” (Emphasis added.)

It would clearly appear under the provisions of the above cited statute that the appellant-defendant and his son both have a claim against the respondent-plaintiff for its failure to comply with law. This in and of itself should have been reasonable justification for the Court to grant

appellant-defendant's motion to set aside the default judgment and allow all of the issues to be presented to the Court for determination so that the case may be determined advisedly and in conformance with law and justice.

A review of the cases that have been decided under Title 70A-9-507 from other jurisdictions indicates that the remedy provided by this Section is not exclusive, and therefore, does not preclude barring a deficiency judgment when a sale of collateral has not been properly conducted or where the party conducts himself in a manner so unfair or so unreasonable as to amount to a retention of the collateral in satisfaction of the obligation. (*Atlas Thrift Company vs. Horan* (supra); *Harris vs. Brower* (Md.), 295 A. 2d 870.) In the case of *Leasco Data Processing Equipment Corporation vs. Atlas Shirt Company*, (N. Y. 323, N. Y. S. 2d 13), the Court stated:

“When a creditor fails to give notice to a debtor of resale of collateral, he may be barred from obtaining a deficiency judgment.”

Further, the California Court in the case of *Atlas Thrift Company vs. Horan* (supra), stated:

“As U. C. C. 9-507 does not expressly declare that it provides an exclusive remedy, the pre-Code law continues under which a creditor failing to sell the collateral properly was barred from obtaining a deficiency judgment.”

In the case of *Bradford vs. Lindey Chevrolet*, (Ga. 161 S. E. 2d 904), the Court stated:

“If the creditor repossesses the collateral and retains it without any excuse for not selling it without demand for payment for fifty (50) days before suit and for over sixteen (16) months from the time of filing suit to date of trial, *such conduct constitutes a rescission and satisfaction of the contract and the creditor cannot recover any deficiency from the debtor.*” (Emphasis added.)

Also, in the case of *Northern Trust Company vs. Krykendall*, (Ill. 273 N. E. 2d 526), the Court stated:

“Under consumer protection statute it may be held that the *giving of proper notice is essential to a proper sale of collateral and that a proper sale of collateral is a condition precedent to liability for a deficiency judgment*, with result that when proper notice is not given, the creditor is not entitled to a deficiency judgment.” (Emphasis added.)

The law is opposed to the creditor taking possession of the collateral and then delaying unreasonably before disposing of it as required by law. To continue to hold the collateral would certainly depreciate its value, and thus, lessen the amount of recovery that could be applied to the obligation owing by the debtor. (See *U. S. vs. Perrnie* (D. C. Neb.), 339 F. Supp. 702.)

It is the contention of appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, that respondent-plaintiff, Pacer Cycle, has failed to comply with the requirements of law in retaking possession of collateral as a secured party and making proper disposition thereof. That by reason of its failure to comply with law, Pacer Cycle should be deemed to have elected to retain possession of the collateral in full satisfaction of the claimed obligation. The default judgment against appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, should be set aside as having no force and effect in law, and further the respondent-plaintiff, Pacer Sport & Cycle should be barred from taking a deficiency judgment against either of the defendants in the action.

### CONCLUSION

Appellant-defendant, Carl W. Myers, contends that the Lower Court abused its discretion in denying his motion to set aside the default judgment entered against him where there existed ample and reasonable justification for so doing. Further, the fact that the respondent-plaintiff, Pacer Sport & Cycle, Inc., has failed to comply with law in failing to make a proper disposition of the motorcycle repossessed by it as a secured party, and under the provisions of Title 70A-9-501 et seq., the default judgment against Carl W. Myers should be set aside as a matter of law, and the respondent-plaintiff be precluded from taking a deficiency judgment against either defendants in this action. For the foregoing rea-

sons, the order of the Lower Court denying the motion of appellant-defendant should be reversed and the default judgment against him be set aside.