2001

Pacer Sport and Cycle v. Frank Myers and Carl W. Myers : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action wherein the appellant seeks a reversal of an order denying their motion to set aside a default judgment.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Third District Court, Judge Gordon R. Hall, entered default judgment against appellant. The Third District Court, Judge M. D. Jones, Judge Pro Tem, denied the motion of appellant to set aside the default judgment.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks reversal of the order denying his motion to set aside a default judgment.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The appellant, Carl W. Myers, will hereinafter be referred to as "Carl Myers". Reference to Frank C. Myers will be "Frank Myers." The respondent, Pacer Sport & Cycle, will hereafter be referred to as "Pacer Cycle".

The Statement of Facts set forth in Carl Myers' brief present an entirely different case to this Court than was presented to the trial court. There are few citations to the record because very few of the facts recited in Carl Myers' brief are in the record.

Carl Myers' Statement of Facts centers around the claim that Pacer Cycle agreed to furnish Frank Myers with free motorcycles. Such an agreement is denied by Pacer Cycle and is inconsistent with the Sales Contract and Security Agreement (R. 49). Pacer Cycle had agreed to provide free labor involved in the service or repair of the motorcycle (exclusive of parts) and stood ready to perform such agreement at all times. However, Frank Myers did not take advantage of the free repair agreement because he was delinquent in paying for the motorcycle and therefore avoided all contact with Pacer Cycle.

It is interesting to note that although Carl Myers argues the existence of agreement whereby the motorcycle was to be given to Frank Myers without charge, he is unwilling to state under oath in his Affidavit that such an agreement existed. Nowhere in his Affidavit does he state the existence of an agreement that the motorcycle would be given to Frank without charge. This is because such an agreement never existed.

The total record supporting the allegation that the motorcycle was to be given to Frank without charge, consists of self serving allegations of such an agreement made by Carl Myers to counsel for Pacer Cycle after the default judgment was taken (R. 35-36). The alleged agreement was never mentioned at the time of demand for payment of the sales contract (R. 34-35) or at the time of service of summons (R. 35).

Frank Myers' version of the facts has expanded during each phase of this proceeding. The present version of the facts bears no similarity whatsoever to other versions stated on previous occasions in this proceeding.

Prior to the filing of the Complaint in this action, counsel for Pacer Cycle sent a demand letter to Carl Myers. In response to that letter Carl Myers contacted the attorney for Pacer Cycle and stated that he would not pay the obligation since all of the benefits were realized by his son, Frank. (R. 34) On this occasion there was no mention of any agreement whereby Pacer Cycle was to furnish free motorcycles to Frank Myers. On the contrary, Carl Myers admitted that his signature was necessary in order to obtain credit on behalf of his son (R. 34-35).

After service of summons and Complaint on Carl Myers, he again contacted counsel for Pacer Cycle. On this occasion he was specifically informed that if he did not file an answer to the Complaint a default judgment would be taken against him which would be executed against his property (R. 35). He replied that he would not answer a complaint dealing with an obligation that

was primarily that of his son, Frank (R. 35). He was instructed to contact an attorney and respond to the Complaint and was given every opportunity to ask any questions concerning the procedure to protect himself against a judgment (R. 35). There was no mention of any agreement whereby Pacer Cycle was to furnish free motorcycles to his son. Rather, the emphasis was on the fact that his son was the one obligated under the contract and that by reason thereof the son should bear the responsibility (R. 35). There was some mention during this conversation that Pacer Cycle had agreed to provide free service and repair on the motorcycle, but no mention of any arrangement for free motorcycles (R. 35).

After the entry of default judgment, counsel for Pacer Cycle again contacted Carl Myers to advise him of the default judgment. This was the first time Carl Myers ever claimed the existence of an agreement whereby Pacer Cycle was to furnish free motorcycles to Frank Myers. The alleged agreement has always been denied by Pacer Cycle and is inconsistent with the provisions of the Sales contract (R. 49).

None of these conversations with counsel for Pacer Cycle were denied or questioned by Carl Myers in his Affidavit filed with the trial court (R. 37-38).

The second claim of Carl Myers is that he thought the telephone conversations was a sufficient answer to the Complaint. The summons which was served on Carl Myers specifically informed him that it was necessary to file an answer "*in writing with the clerk of the court*" (R.

45). In addition, during a telephone conversation with counsel for Pacer Cycle he was again informed that he was obligated to file an answer to the Complaint (R. 35). On the basis of this information, it is impossible for him to reasonably conclude that the telephone conversation itself was an answer to the Complaint since during that conversation he stated that he refused to answer (R. 35). During this same conversation he was further informed of the consequences of not filing an answer: that a default judgment would be taken against him which could be satisfied by execution upon his property (R. 35). This telephone conversation was prior to the expiration of the time for filing an answer, and long before a default judgment was taken.

Carl Myers complains that the delay of one year between service of summons and default judgment in some way justifies setting the default judgment aside. The reason for the delay arose by reason of attempts by Pacer Cycle and its assignee to locate Frank Myers and the collateral. As will be noted later, the collateral was dismantled and the parts located have a mechanics' lien against them. Frank Myers has never been located. The answer to the Complaint on behalf of Frank Myers was filed without service of summons upon him and after default judgment had been taken against his father, Carl Myers.

If anything, the delay in taking default judgment is further evidence of the absence of excusable neglect since it gave Carl Myers every opportunity to respond and assert any defenses at a proper stage of the proceedings.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE DEFAULT JUDGMENT WAS WITHIN SOUND DISCRETION OF THE TRIAL COURT.

The only provisions of law justifying the setting aside of the default judgment are contained in Rule 60 (b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. These rules provide for relief from a final judgment for reasons of "Mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect" or "any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment."

It is apparent from the uncontroverted facts, that none of these grounds exist in the instant case. For this reason, the denial of the motion to set aside the judgment was a proper exercise of the discretion of the trial court.

Since Carl Myers was specifically informed as to his obligation to provide a written answer to the Complaint, was correctly advised as to the consequences in failing to act, and was given ample time in which to act, there are no grounds whatsoever to reasonably argue that his failure to answer was by reason of mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect or any other reason which would justify relief from the judgment. Carl Myers had every opportunity to present any meritorious defense and willfully and knowingly refused to answer.

The sole excuse for failing to answer the Complaint is the claim that Carl Myers considered the telephone conversation with attorney for Pacer Cycle as constituting the court answer. (R. 37). If this constitutes neglect, it is far from "excusable neglect," since during the course of that conversation Carl Myers was informed that a formal answer was required and he specifically stated that he refused to make such an answer (R. 35). Having refused to answer, he cannot reasonably contend that he deemed the conversation to constitute an answer. Since he specifically refused to take any action, he could not have assumed that the action was already being taken. Willful conduct cannot constitute "neglect." It follows with even greater force that willful conduct cannot constitute "excusable neglect."

The situation involved in the instant case is similar to that involved in *Board of Education v. Cox*, 14 Utah 2d 385, 384 P.2d 806 (1963). In that case the defendant claimed he failed to answer the Complaint because he was of the opinion that it was invalid because it had not been signed by the trial judge. This Court upheld the action of the trial court in refusing to set aside the default judgment. The basis of the decision was as follows:

"The trial judge was in an advantaged position to judge the defendant's creditability. In view of his interest, the court was not obliged to believe the somewhat feeble excuse he gave him for not paying attention to the summons: that he thought it required a judge's signature. *The summons is self explanatory to anyone who can read, and this*

excuse is so unrealistic that the trial judge was not compelled to accept it . . . In view of these facts the trial court's conclusion that Mr. Cox's failure to heed the summons was his *deliberate choice* does not seem unreasonable." [Emphasis added]

In the instant case, the summons clearly states that the answer must be in writing (R. 45). So, as in the *Cox* case, a conclusion to the contrary is unreasonable and therefore does not constitute excusable neglect. The instant case is a much more flagrant disregard of the obligation to answer since, unlike the *Cox* case, the defendant in this case was specifically told of his obligation and clearly stated his deliberate intention not to respond to the summons.

If illness is not excusable neglect, *Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co.*, 123 Utah 416, 260 P.2d 741 (1953), certainly knowingly refusing to answer a Complaint does not constitute excusable neglect. Moreover, it has been specifically held that where notice of intent to take default judgment is communicated to the adverse party prior to taking the judgment, there is no claim for excusable neglect. *Masters v. LeSeuer*, 13 Utah 2d 293, 373 P.2d 573 (1962).

The question is one presented to the discretion of the trial judge, and will be set aside only if there is a clear abuse of discretion. *Chrysler v. Chrysler*, 5 Utah 2d 415, 303 P.2d 995 (1956); *Masters v. LeSeuer* supra; *Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Co.*, 14 Utah 2d 52, 376 P.2d 951 (1962). The facts before the court give no basis for a

finding that the trial court abused its discretion in these circumstances. It is apparent that the trial court found that Carl Myers willfully and knowingly refused to answer the Complaint after being fully advised of his obligation to do so and the consequences thereof. This court will not substitute its discretion for that of the trial court. *Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co.*, 123 Utah 416, 260 P.2d 741 (1953).

On page 6 of his brief, Carl Myers argues that Pacer Cycle's attorney admits a valid dispute between the parties. A reading of the Affidavit of Pacer's attorney illustrates that the argument is taken out of context. The statement was made to demonstrate the nature in which Carl Myers version of the facts expands with the passage of time and not as an admission of a valid issue between the parties.

Carl Myers further argues that by reason of alleged valid disputes, the judgment should be set aside. Pacer asserts that the time for asserting valid disputes or defenses has long since past and Carl Myers was given every opportunity to assert the defenses at a proper state of the proceeding. By asserting the claimed defenses at this point in time he is merely carrying forth his original plan to willfully and knowingly delay the proceedings and respond at his own convenience.

POINT II.

THERE WAS NO VIOLATION OF LAW IN REFUSING TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT.

Under point II of his brief, Myers again attempts to assert defenses which should have been asserted in the answer which he willfully refused to file. There are two errors in this argument:

(a) The proper time for asserting defenses noted in Myers' brief have long since past. The sole issue before the court is whether the default should be set aside, not an argument of the merits of the case;

(b) Myers argument is based not only upon facts not in the record, but upon facts which are totally false.

(a) *Sole issue is discretion of Trial Court*

It is the clear intent of the Rules of Procedure to require defendant to assert any defenses in the trial court. Carl Myers has willfully refused to assert his defenses at the proper stage of the proceeding and now seeks to assert them for the first time to this Court after judgment.

The issue to be determined is not the validity of the defenses but whether the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to set aside a default judgment after a finding that the defendant has willfully refused to answer the Complaint after being put on notice that default judgment would be taken and the consequences of such a judgment.

This Court has clearly held that in reviewing an order refusing to set aside a default judgment, the only considerations are the facts and circumstances surrounding the failure to answer. The court will not review the merits of the case:

"We are concerned only with why he did not answer, not with what kind of answer would he give if he were so inclined. This latter question arises only after consideration of the first question and a sufficient excuse therefrom being shown. Board of Education v. Cox, 14 Utah 2d 385, 384 P.2d 806 (1963) [emphasis added].

(b) *Defenses are based on a false set of facts*

The main import of Myers' brief centers around a wrongful repossession of the motorcycle. It seems odd that Carl Myers would rely on facts that he is unwilling to verify under oath. Nowhere in his Affidavit, or in any other affidavit, was there any statement that a repossession had ever taken place.

The only evidence of a repossession is at R. 50. The document (R. 50) was prepared in March, 1973 on erroneous information that the motorcycle had been repossessed in January, 1973. However, after checking the facts it was discovered that the repossession was of another motorcycle possessed by another buyer. For this reason, the document at R. 50 was never notarized and was included in the Complaint by error. The document is not referred to at all in the Complaint.

Since Myers never raised the repossession argument in the trial court, Pacer Cycle had no opportunity or reason to clarify the question of whether a repossession had taken place.

In order to avoid expending time and effort of the Court on the basis of a misunderstanding of the facts, Pacer Cycle has obtained Affidavits from the persons in-